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STRATEGIC REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

The directors present their Strategic Report for the year ended 31 March 2023.

INTRODUCTION

The principal activity of the Company during the year was to apply and enforce the Company’s 
Code of Practice relating to premium rate telephone services (the Code). The Code is approved by 
The Office of Communications (Ofcom) under the Communications Act 2003 (the Act).

During the year it was announced that regulatory responsibility for phone-paid services will transfer 
to Ofcom, subject to government approval. The planned transfer date is October 2024, and until 
then PSA will continue to deliver its regulatory remit in full.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Our activities and market

We are the UK regulator for content, goods and services charged to a phone bill. We act in the 
interests of consumers.

Phone-paid services are the goods and services that can be bought by charging the cost to the 
phone bill or pre-pay account. They include charity donations by text, music streaming, broadcast 
competitions, directory enquiries, voting on TV talent shows and in-app purchases. In law, phone-
paid services are referred to as premium rate services (PRS).

We are a non-profit making company limited by guarantee. We carry out the day-to-day regulation 
of phone-paid services in the UK, primarily through our Code of Practice approved under the 
Communications Act 2003. Ofcom defines the scope of our regulatory remit and also approves our 
annual Business Plan and Budget to ensure we are sufficiently resourced to carry out our functions.

We are a designated public body and, as such, an arms-length body of central government. In 2023 
our sponsor department changed from the Department of Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) 
to the Department for Science, Innovation and Technology (DSIT). We are audited by the National 
Audit Office.

Our strategic approach

We build consumer trust in phone-paid services and ensure they are well-served through supporting 
a healthy market that is innovative and competitive. We do this by:

Establishing regulatory standards for the phone-paid services industry

We set standards to ensure that consumers who charge a purchase to their phone-bill do so 
knowingly and willingly and receive good customer service.

These standards are designed to ensure all consumers have a similar positive experience of phone-
paid services, including consumers who may be considered vulnerable.
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Our standards are clearly set out in our Code of Practice. They deliver the necessary technical and 
operational protections in the market and are aligned with consumer expectations, including those 
based on experiences with other payment mechanisms. We evolve these standards in response to 
industry best practice, advances in technology, risk, and consumer behaviour and expectations.

The Code standards are supported by guidance, free compliance advice, and examples of 
best practice.

Verifying and supervising organisations and services operating in the market

Consumers should be able to trust that they are dealing with genuine service providers. We require 
all organisations operating in the phone-paid services market to register comprehensive details 
about themselves and the services they provide. 

We support consumers to access this information easily, helping them to have sufficient details to 
be able to resolve any individual issues. 

We require all parties in the phone-paid services industry to check the credentials and behaviour of 
who they work with, and to have systems in place to identify and deal quickly with issues affecting 
consumers. 

We work with networks and intermediaries to ensure they meet our requirements around due 
diligence, risk assessment and control. We do this by actively monitoring and regularly auditing for 
compliance with the Code.

Gathering intelligence about consumers, the market and individual services

We invest in research and our expert monitoring capabilities to improve our understanding of 
market trends, consumer behaviour, experience and expectations, and use this to inform and 
enforce the standards we set.

We continually receive and assess information about individual services, including complaints. 
We engage directly with consumers to understand the issues they are raising, we undertake 
detailed monitoring of individual services, and we ask service providers for further information 
when necessary.

We actively monitor the wider market to identify potential consumer harm, address issues early and 
share information.

Engaging closely with all stakeholders 

We engage with all stakeholders – consumers, industry, government and other regulators, and the 
media – to inform and facilitate our regulatory approach. 

We support industry to understand what our regulatory approach means for them in practice. 
This support is driven by our desire for consumers to be able to access services that they want, 
in a market that competes on price, product innovation, quality and customer service.

We work to identify and remedy any instances where our approach may unnecessarily hinder 
consumers who knowingly and willingly want to charge a purchase to their phone bill from doing so.
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We promote consumer choice by enabling credible organisations to enter the market with ease 
and by creating the conditions where providers can innovate safely and invest with confidence. 

We communicate with consumers to improve understanding and awareness of phone payment, 
and the various ways consumers can charge content, goods, or services to their phone bill.

We work with Ofcom, DCMS/DSIT and other regulators to ensure that consumer interests are 
best served through a co-ordinated approach to regulation.

Enforcing our Code of Practice

Where apparent breaches of the Code are committed, we investigate and enforce where appropriate 
in the most efficient and effective way possible. We aim to eliminate sharp practices, negligent 
behaviour and the deliberate use of phone payment as a mechanic to exploit consumers.

We ensure we are fair and proportionate, with enforcement delivered through the appropriate 
means. We will always be transparent in our decision-making, and our approach to investigations 
and sanctioning, including fines and ordering consumer redress, is detailed in the Supporting 
Procedures to the Code of Practice.

Where our remit and sanctions are unable to wholly or partially hold to account those providers 
causing consumer harm, we will refer them to the relevant enforcement authorities.

Delivering organisational excellence

As a regulator, we are committed to acting in a transparent, accountable, proportionate, consistent, 
and targeted manner in everything we do. We uphold high standards in our governance, legal, 
finance, human resources, information systems, and customer service functions. 

Review of 2022/2023

Delivery of market regulation

After an extensive development and consultation process in the previous year, the start of 2022/23 
saw the introduction of the new 15th Code of Practice (Code 15), aimed at:

 • achieving compliance in the market through standards being met, rather than through 
assessing impact against outcomes

 • preventing consumer harm from happening in the first place, rather than dealing with it 
after it has happened

 • providers finding the Code simpler and easier to comply with
 • delivering smarter enforcement to underpin the effectiveness of the Code.

During the year we ensured the successful delivery of this new regulatory approach through:

 • demonstrating the flexibility of the new Code by quickly incorporating change 
(amendments to competition and voting services requirements) and putting in place the 
first general permission under the new Code (SMS virtual chat receipting)

 • working more closely with key individual industry providers on a supervisory basis to 
monitor compliance, assess and mitigate risk and better understand their engagement 
with the market
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 • developing a wider understanding of key market issues and responding accordingly, with 
our first thematic review under the new Code collecting targeted data from over 40 
different providers of Information, Connection and Signposting Services (ICSS)

 • applying an enforcement strategy that concluded a number of extant Code 14 cases to 
underline the emphasis we place on networks and intermediaries having effective due 
diligence, risk assessment and control (DDRAC) processes

 • identifying and resolving new issues quickly and, wherever possible, without resort to 
Enforcement sanctions

 • returning to industry all bonds held under previous Code requirements (no longer 
necessary under Code 15).

The impact of this new approach has been a positive one for consumers and has not impeded 
delivery of phone-paid services in the market:

 • the number of issues reported to us by consumers has continued to be at record low levels 
of around 2,000 for the year (down 94% since 2015/16), with these issues being confined 
to only a few service types and a handful of providers

 • our Annual Market Review (AMR) research shows that the number of consumers estimated 
to be using a phone-paid service at least once during a year has risen to around 60% of the 
UK adult population

 • consumer spend in the market is expected to be broadly similar to the previous year at just 
under £0.6bn

Future of market regulation

The PSA Board has always been mindful of how the phone-paid services market could be best 
regulated in the long-term, and the process of developing Code 15 informed the opportunity to:

 • reflect upon the current state of the market
 • consider where potential issues may arise in the future 
 • consider the resources likely to be needed to deal with them. 

In conjunction with Ofcom, the PSA Board concluded that future regulation of an industry 
increasingly dominated by larger players would be better served by an organisation with the 
capacity and breadth of Ofcom rather than a free-standing body. As a consequence, it was 
announced in May 2022 that regulatory responsibility for phone-paid services will transfer to 
Ofcom, subject to government approval.

During 2022/23 we worked closely with Ofcom to identify how best to deliver this transfer, with an 
initial focus on:

 • supporting Ofcom’s aim to incorporate as much of Code 15 as possible into their statutory 
order and regulatory processes

 • communicating the planned transfer to staff and creating opportunities for engagement 
with Ofcom colleagues

 • relocating the PSA office into Ofcom’s head office at Riverside House London
 • communicating the planned transfer to industry and, where able, responding to queries 

as they arise.
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Our funding arrangements

We are a not-for-profit company, funded primarily through a levy imposed on the providers of PRS. 

Our budget is subject to an annual consultation exercise with industry, and is subject to approval by 
Ofcom. In considering their approval, Ofcom satisfies itself that the PSA budget is sufficient for us to 
be able to deliver the required statutory obligations. 

The industry levy is set so as to recover this budget, after netting off Registration Scheme fee 
income and bank account interest. The recovery model is set so that Network Operators collect on 
our behalf a fair proportion of the levy, based on their financial share of the market, as measured by 
the outpayments each Network Operator makes to service providers.

Income is also received through the collection of fines and administrative charges, which may 
be imposed by independent Tribunals for non-compliance with the Code. This imposition of fines 
and administrative charges is evidence of our ongoing commitment to provide effective and 
proportionate regulation to the industry.

In the first instance any collected fines are allocated to PSA’s retained surplus (see below), but 
in exceptional circumstances may be utilised in different ways, including redistribution back to 
Network Operators.

Reserves

We operate a detailed risk register to ensure we are able to clearly identify and, where possible, 
mitigate against potential risks. By definition the costs associated with these risks constitute 
extraordinary expenditure, including the planned winding up of the Company, and at the end 
of 2022/23 we hold accumulated reserves (retained surplus) of £2.9m to cover these risks. 

2022/23 accounts

Our turnover for 2022/23 was £5.9m (2021/22 £8.4m), comprising mainly of the industry levy, 
Registration fees, fines and administrative charges (note 3 to the financial statements). 

Of this turnover, fines and administrative charges in 2022/23 were £2.0m (2021/22 £4.4m). 
For clarity:

 • All fines imposed by the Tribunal are based solely on the merits of the case involved, 
and are determined wholly independently of the finances of the Company;

 • Fines are recognised as turnover immediately as they are imposed and without regard 
to the creditworthiness of the debtor. Where fines are successfully reduced on appeal, 
turnover is reduced accordingly;

 • Where the provider is, or becomes, insolvent, or the fine is otherwise unable to be 
recovered, a bad debt expense is created. Bad debts written off and provided for in 
2022/23 amounted to £1.3m in total (2021/22 £3.6m).

Expenses, excluding bad debts, in 2022/23 were £4.1m (2021/22 £4.1m) and are in line with the 
budget agreed with Ofcom.

The surplus for the year, after taxation, amounted to £0.6m (2021/22 – £0.8m surplus).
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We have publicly announced that we are in the process of transferring regulatory responsibility 
to Ofcom. This work is expected to continue to be delivered by PSA until October 2024 and is 
subject to government approval. From the point of transfer, the PSA would cease to operate as 
an independent body.

We continue to use a detailed Risk Register to monitor closely risks across all areas of the 
Company, and this includes the risks associated with the above transfer. We identify and take 
mitigating action where necessary and possible, and our approach is supported through the use of a 
Balanced Scorecard, with relevant measurement indicators, to assess overall Company performance. 
This allows us to consider not just the financial performance of the Company, and the associated 
risks, but also performance and risks in terms of our staff, our stakeholders, our processes and our 
regulatory effectiveness. 

Arising from this overall approach to risk management, the key risks we face to delivering our 
regulatory remit up to the point of transfer are:

 • Failing to deal with operational issues in phone-paid services market
 • The sanctions we have at our disposal are not effective enough to deter bad actors 

in the market
 • The Code is unable to address consumer harm (i.e. because behaviour causing harm 

is deemed compliant)
 • Material failure in the working relationship with government stakeholders, most notably 

Ofcom and DSIT
 • Our viability in the regulatory landscape is undermined if the proposed transfer 

of regulatory responsibility to Ofcom does not go ahead.

We remain confident that for the period up until transfer, our regulatory framework will continue to 
allow the building of consumer trust in phone-paid services and ensure they are well-served through 
supporting a healthy market that is innovative and competitive. We also believe that the interests of 
consumers will be further enhanced in the longer term through the proposed transfer of regulatory 
responsibility to Ofcom.

Our funding model, alongside our assessment of the market, means that the Company has minimal 
exposure to financial risks such as those arising around income, credit or cash flow. 

This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf.

D A Edmonds CBE 
Chair

Date: 28th November 2023
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DIRECTORS REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Results and dividends

The surplus for the year, after taxation, amounted to £0.6m (2022 – £0.8m surplus).

Directors

The directors who served during the year and up to the date of this report were:

D Edmonds CBE  
M Munn 
J Porter 
M Thomson 
W Palmer

Disclosure of information to auditors

Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this Directors Report is approved has 
confirmed that:

 • so far as that director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
Company’s auditors are unaware, and

 • that the director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in 
order to be aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s 
auditors are aware of that information.

Post balance sheet events

There have been no significant events affecting the Company since the year end and the date the 
accounts were authorised for issue. 

Future developments and preparation of accounts

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, but with material 
uncertainties arising from the following circumstances:

 • in May 2022, PSA and Ofcom announced the intention for regulatory responsibility 
for phone-paid services to be transferred to Ofcom;

 • since the announcement, both parties have been working in conjunction with their 
government sponsors towards effecting the transfer. The transfer is planned to happen 
in October 2024 and PSA will continue to deliver its regulatory remit in the meantime;

 • the 2003 Communications Act requires Ofcom to lay a new Statutory Instrument before 
Parliament, setting out how Ofcom will directly regulate the phone-paid services market 
and the date from which this will happen;
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 • until such time that this Statutory Instrument is enacted, and given that the ability to raise 
levy funding remains in place until then, the Directors view is that PSA remains a going 
concern and have prepared these accounts on that basis.

It should be noted that the Directors expect the finances of PSA Ltd to remain materially unaffected 
up until the point of transfer, with a retained surplus (2023: £2.9m) sufficient and essential to 
mitigate organisational risk and allow for a smooth and orderly wind-up of the company.

Auditors

Phone-paid Services Authority Limited is included in the Government Resources and Accounts Act 
2000 (Audit of Public Bodies) Order 2017, creating a statutory requirement for the Comptroller and 
Auditor General to be the external auditor.

Directors’ responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under 
that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland’. Under Company law the directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing these financial 
statements, the directors are required to:

 • select suitable accounting policies for the Company financial statements and then apply 
them consistently;

 • make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 • prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 

presume that the Company will continue in business;
 • state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any 

material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show 
and explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities.

This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf.

M Thomson 
Director

Date: 28th November 2023
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THE CERTIFICATE AND REPORT OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL 
TO THE MEMBERS OF PHONE-PAID SERVICES AUTHORITY LIMITED AND HOUSES 
OF PARLIAMENT

OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

I certify that I have audited the financial statements of Phone-paid Services Authority Limited for 
the year ended 31 March 2023 under the Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000. 

The financial statements comprise the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s:

 • Statements of Financial Position as at 31 March 2023;  
 • Statement of Income and Retained Earnings and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 

ended; and
 • the related notes including the significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial 
statements is applicable law and the United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In my opinion the financial statements:

 • give a true and fair view of the state of the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s affairs 
as at 31 March 2023 and its surplus for the year then ended; and

 • have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and

 • have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

OPINION ON REGULARITY

In my opinion, in all material respects, the income and expenditure recorded in the financial 
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions 
recorded in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.

BASIS FOR OPINIONS

I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)), 
applicable law and Practice Note 10 Audit of Financial Statements and Regularity of Public Sector 
Bodies in the United Kingdom (2022). My responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of my certificate. 

Those standards require me and my staff to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Revised 
Ethical Standard 2019. I am independent of the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in the UK. My 
staff and I have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion. 
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

I draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that Phone-paid Services 
Authority Limited and Ofcom have announced the intention for regulatory responsibility for phone-
paid services to be transferred to Ofcom. The transfer is planned to happen in October 2024 and 
PSA will continue to deliver its regulatory remit in the meantime. The Communications Act 2003 
requires the laying of a Statutory Instrument, setting out how Ofcom will directly regulate the 
phone-paid services market and the date from which this will happen. Until such time that this 
Statutory Instrument is enacted the Directors’ view is that PSA remains a going concern and have 
prepared these accounts on that basis.

These events and conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant 
doubt on the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s ability to continue as a going concern. My 
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

My responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this certificate.

OTHER INFORMATION

The other information comprises the information included in the Strategic Report & Directors’ 
Report, but does not include the financial statements and my auditor’s certificate thereon. The 
directors are responsible for the other information. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the 
extent otherwise explicitly stated in my certificate, I do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

My responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or my knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If I identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, I am required to 
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. 
If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, I am required to report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard.

OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS 

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

 • the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report for the financial year 
for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements; and 

 • the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report has been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements. 
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MATTERS ON WHICH I REPORT BY EXCEPTION

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited and 
its environment obtained in the course of the audit, I have not identified material misstatements in 
the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report.

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if, in my opinion:

 • adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for my audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by my staff; or

 • the financial statements and the parts of the Directors Report to be audited are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

 • certain disclosures of director’s remuneration specified by law are not made; or
 • I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my audit;

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are 
responsible for:

 • maintaining proper accounting records; 
 • providing the C&AG with access to all information of which management is aware that is 

relevant to the preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and 
other matters;

 • providing the C&AG with additional information and explanations needed for his audit;
 • providing the C&AG with unrestricted access to persons within the [audited entity] from 

whom the auditor determines it necessary to obtain audit evidence.
 • Preparing financial statements, which give a true and fair view, in accordance with the 

Companies Act 2006; 
 • ensuring such internal controls are in place as directors determine are necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statement to be free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error;  

 • preparing the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2006; and

 • assessing the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the entity or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

My responsibility is to audit, certify and report on the financial statements in accordance with the 
Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000.

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a certificate that 
includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting non-compliance with laws and 
regulations including fraud 

I design procedures in line with my responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements 
in respect of non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud. The extent to which my 
procedures are capable of detecting non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud is 
detailed below.

Identifying and assessing potential risks related to non-compliance with laws and regulations, 
including fraud 

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of non-compliance with laws 
and regulations, including fraud, I:

 • considered the nature of the sector, control environment and operational performance 
including the design of the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s accounting policies.  

 • inquired of management, and those charged with governance, including obtaining and 
reviewing supporting documentation relating to the Phone-paid Services Authority 
Limited’s policies and procedures on: 

 • identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations;
 • detecting and responding to the risks of fraud; and
 • the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance 

with laws and regulations including the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s 
controls relating to the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s compliance with the 
Companies Act 2006, Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000 and, Managing 
Public Money;

 • inquired of management, and those charged with governance whether:

 • they were aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations;
 • they had knowledge of any actual, suspected, or alleged fraud;

 • discussed with the engagement team regarding how and where fraud might occur in the 
financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud. 

As a result of these procedures, I considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within 
the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited for fraud and identified the greatest potential for fraud in 
the following areas: revenue recognition, posting of unusual journals, complex transactions and bias 
in management estimates. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), I am also required to perform 
specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

I obtained an understanding of the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s framework of authority 
and other legal and regulatory frameworks in which the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited 
operates. I focused on those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on material amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements or that had a fundamental effect on the operations of the 
Phone-paid Services Authority Limited. The key laws and regulations I considered in this context 
included Companies Act 2006, Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000, Managing Public 
Money, employment law and tax legislation. 
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Audit response to identified risk 

To respond to the identified risks resulting from the above procedures: 

 • I reviewed the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to 
assess compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described above as 
having direct effect on the financial statements;

 • I enquired of management, and the Audit, Risk & Corporate Governance Committee 
concerning actual and potential litigation and claims; 

 • I reviewed minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and the Board and 
internal audit reports; and

 • in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, I tested the 
appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; and evaluated the business 
rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course 
of business.

I communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential risks of fraud to all 
engagement team members and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with 
laws and regulations throughout the audit. 

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 
forms part of my certificate. 

Other auditor’s responsibilities

I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and 
income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by 
Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the 
authorities which govern them.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control I identify during my audit. 

REPORT

I have no observations to make on these financial statements.

Gareth Davies 

5th December 2023

Comptroller and Auditor General  
National Audit Office 
157-197 Buckingham Palace Road 
Victoria 
London 
SW1W 9SP
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Phone-paid Services Authority Limited 
(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

STATEMENT OF INCOME AND RETAINED EARNINGS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

Note
2023

£
2022

£

Turnover 3 5,883,228 8,413,885

Administrative expenses (4,067,998) (4,065,448)

Bad debts (1,275,676) (3,580,753)

Operating surplus/(loss) 4 539,554 767,684

Interest receivable 8 21,946 1,149

Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activity before taxation 561,500 768,833

Taxation on interest 9 (4,170) (218)

Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activity after taxation 557,330 768,614

Retained surplus at the beginning of the year 2,372,867 1,604,253

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 557,330 768,614

Retained surplus at the end of the year 22 2,930,197 2,372,867

The notes on pages 23 to 35 form part of these financial statements.
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Phone-paid Services Authority Limited 
(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2023

2023
£

2022
£

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 10 61,198 127,184
61,198 127,184

Current assets

Debtors: amounts falling due within 
one year 11 1,678,898 1,108,874
Cash at bank and in hand 12 1,483,668 2,118,924
Short-term cash investment 13 1,000,000 –

4,162,566 3,227,798

Creditors: amounts falling due within 
one year 14 (1,293,567) (797,472)

Net current assets 2,868,999 2,430,326
Total assets less current liabilities 2,930,197 2,557,511

Provisions for Liabilities
Other provisions 16 – (184,644)

– (184,644)
Net assets 2,930,197 2,372,867

Capital and reserves

Retained surplus 22 2,930,197 2,372,867
2,930,197 2,372,867

Phone-paid Services Authority Limited is exempt from the requirements of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006 under section 482 (non-profit-making companies subject to public sector 
audit) of that Act. The financial statements are subject to audit by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General under The Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000 (Audit of Non-profit-making 
Companies) Order 2009.

The financial statements were approved by the board and were signed on its behalf by:

J Porter 
Director

Date: 4th December 2023

The notes on pages 23 to 35 form part of these financial statements.
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Phone-paid Services Authority Limited 
(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

Note
2023

£
2022

£

Surplus/(deficit) for the financial year 557,330 768,614

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of tangible assets 10 76,848 93,744

(Profit)/loss on disposal of tangible assets 10 55,484 204

(Decrease) in dilapidations provision 16 (184,644) –

Interest received 8 (21,946) (1,149)

Taxation 9 4,170 218

(Increase) decrease in debtors 11 (570,024) (295,584)

Increase (decrease) in creditors 14 492,143 (395,265)

Corporation tax (218) (2,789)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 409,143 167,993

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase and sale of tangible fixed assets 10 (66,345) (28,785)

Interest received 8 21,946 1,149

Short-term cash investment 13 (1,000,000) –

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (1,044,399) (27,636)

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest paid – –

Net cash used in financing activities – –

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (635,256) 140,357

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,118,924 1,978,567

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1,483,668 2,118,924

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year comprise:

Cash at bank and in hand 1,483,668 2,118,924

1,483,668 2,118,924
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Phone-paid Services Authority Limited 
(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

1. Accounting policies

1.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

Phone-paid Services Authority Limited (the Company) is a private not-for-profit 
Company limited by guarantee incorporated in the United Kingdom under the 
Companies Act 2006 and is registered in England and Wales. The address of the 
Company’s registered office is Ofcom, Riverside House, 2a Southwark Bridge Road, 
London SE1 9HA. The nature of the company’s operations are to apply and enforce the 
Company’s Code of Practice relating to premium rate telephone services (the Code). 
The Code is approved by Ofcom under the Communications Act 2003 (the Act).

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, and 
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by the Financial 
Reporting Council. The Company has applied the amendments to FRS 102 published by 
the FRC in March 2018 prior to their mandatory effective date of accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement 
in applying the Company’s accounting policies (see note 2).

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, but with material 
uncertainties arising from the following circumstances:

• in May 2022, PSA and Ofcom announced the intention for regulatory responsibility 
for phone-paid services to be transferred to Ofcom;

• since the announcement, both parties have been working in conjunction with their 
government sponsors towards effecting the transfer. The transfer is planned to 
happen in October 2024 and PSA will continue to deliver its regulatory remit in 
the meantime;

• the 2003 Communications Act requires Ofcom to lay a new Statutory Instrument 
before Parliament, setting out how Ofcom will directly regulate the phone-paid 
services market and the date from which this will happen;

• until such time that this Statutory Instrument is enacted, and given that the ability to 
raise levy funding remains in place until then, the Directors view is that PSA remains 
a going concern and have prepared these accounts on that basis.

It should be noted that the Directors expect the finances of PSA Ltd to remain materially 
unaffected up until the point of transfer, with a retained surplus (2023: £2.9m) sufficient 
and essential to mitigate organisational risk and allow for a smooth and orderly wind-up 
of the company (see note 22).
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Phone-paid Services Authority Limited 
(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

The following principal accounting policies have been applied:

1.2  Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following criteria 
must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Recognition of income
Income received from the network operators is on the basis of a levy on income from 
premium rate services. The levy is set at the beginning of each year, based on budgeted 
expenditure, so as to reimburse Phone-paid Services Authority Limited for 
costs incurred.

Income from fines and administrative charges is recognised as soon as the Tribunal 
orders them to be paid and it is made publicly available.

A contingency is made in full where fines are in dispute.

Rendering of services
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised in the period in which the 
services are provided in accordance with the stage of completion of the contract when 
all of the following conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the Company will receive the consideration due under 

the contract;
• the stage of completion of the contract at the end of the reporting period can be 

measured reliably, and;
• the costs incurred and the costs to complete the contract can be measured reliably.

1.3 Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets under the cost model are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management.

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the costs of assets less their residual value over 
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the 
carrying amount and are recognised within ‘other operating income’ in the Statement 
of Income and Retained Earnings.
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Phone-paid Services Authority Limited 
(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

1.4 Operating leases: Lessee

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the profit or loss on a straight line 
basis over the period of the lease.

1.5 Debtors

Short term debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment.

1.6 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable 
without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid 
investments that mature in no more than six months from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of 
change in value.

1.7 Financial instruments

The company only enters into basic financial instruments transactions that result in the 
recognition of financial assets and liabilities like trade and other accounts receivable 
and payable.

Short term creditors are measured at the transaction price. Other financial liabilities, 
including bank loans, are measured initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and 
are measured subsequently at amortised costs using the effective interest method.

1.8 Defined contribution pension plan

The Company operates a defined contribution plan for its employees. A defined 
contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity. Once the contributions have been paid the Company has no 
further payments obligations.

The contributions are recognised as an expense when they fall due. Amounts not paid 
are shown in accruals as a liability in the Statement of Financial Position. The assets of 
the plan are held separately from the Company in independently administered funds.

1.9 Retained surplus

The Company has allocated amounts collected from Network Operators to provide 
working capital funding for the Company and in particular to provide funding in the 
event of a sudden change in the nature and volume of activity of the Company. 
These amounts are included in the profit and loss reserve.
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(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

1.10 Provisions for liabilities

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Company a legal 
or constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic 
benefit, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are charged as an expense to the Statement of Income and Retained Earnings 
in the year that the Company becomes aware of the obligation and are measured at the 
best estimate at the Statement of Financial Position date of the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties.

When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

No discounting is applied for the time value of money as the effect would be negligible.

1.11 Taxation

Corporation tax is assessed on interest received at the current date. Any surplus arising 
during the year is not subject to Corporation Tax.

2. Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 1, 
the directors are required to make judgements (other than those involving estimations) 
that have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to make estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or 
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods.

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which 
are dealt with separately below), that the directors have made in the process of applying 
the Company’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Bad debt provision is made on an individual basis, against specific debts. This is based 
on the evidence relating to that debt, as the collection process proceeds. No general 
provision is made for doubtful debts against the debtors balance as a whole.
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Phone-paid Services Authority Limited 
(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

3. Analysis of turnover

An analysis of turnover by class of business is as follows:

2023
£

2022
£

Levy 3,726,621 3,877,290

Administrative charges 49,000 107,325

Fines 1,960,000 4,280,000

Registration fees 147,508 149,071

Other 99 199

5,883,228 8,413,885

Turnover is received predominantly from within the UK.

4. Operating surplus/(loss)

The operating surplus/(loss) is stated after charging:

2023
£

2022
£

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 76,848 93,744

Operating lease payments 225,382 196,119

Defined contribution pension cost (Note 18) 139,925 139,045

442,155 428,908

5. Auditors’ remuneration

2023
£

2022
£

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the 
Company’s annual accounts 35,000 26,000

35,000 26,000

Analysis of audit fees:

National Audit Office 35,000 26,000

35,000 26,000



Page 28

Phone-paid Services Authority Limited 
(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

6. Employees

Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration, were as follows:

2023
£

2022
£

Wages and salaries 2,209,714 2,234,240

Social security costs 231,234 212,187

Costs of defined contribution scheme 139,925 139,045

2,580,873 2,585,472

The average monthly number of employees, including the directors, during the year was 
as follows:

2023
No.

2022
No.

Board 4 5

Staff 35 41

Independent Complaints Assessor – part time 1 1

Code Adjudication Panel – part time 10 10

Consumer Panel – part time 6 6

56 63

Staff costs and staff numbers information include amounts relating to the Code Adjudication 
Panel (CAP), the Independent Appeals Body (IAB) and the Consumer Panel. All members of the 
CAP are employed by the Company for administrative purposes only, and are otherwise 
independent of the Company.

The total of 56 (2022: 63) is made up of FTE employees and part-time office-holders (which 
includes Board members).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

7. Directors’ remuneration

2023
£

2022  
represented

£

Directors emoluments 251,846 253,134

Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 20,700 19,703

272,546 272,837

During the year retirement benefits were accruing to 1 director (2022 – 1) in respect 
of defined contribution pension schemes.

The highest paid director received remuneration of £147,220 (2022 - £137,854 represented). 
The 2022 figure has been represented due to erroneous double-counting of a bonus paid in 
2022 of £6,503.

The value of the company’s contributions paid to a defined contribution pension scheme 
in respect of the highest paid director amounted to £20,700 (2022 – £19,703).

The total accrued pension provision of the highest paid director at 31 March 2023 amounted 
to £1,725 (2022 – £nil).

8. Interest receivable

2023
£

2022
£

Other interest receivable 21,946 1,149

21,946 1,149



Page 30

Phone-paid Services Authority Limited 
(A Company Limited by Guarantee)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

9. Taxation

The tax payable is due on the bank interest received. Phone-paid Services Authority Limited 
is a not-for-profit organisation therefore no tax arises on its other activities as any in-year 
surplus, if it arises, is treated as deferred income.

2023
£

2022
£

Corporation tax

Taxation on interest 4,170 218

Taxation on interest 4,170 218

Factors affecting tax charge for the year

The tax assessed for the year is higher than (2022 – higher than) the standard rate of 
corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2022 – 19%). The differences are explained below:

2023
£

2022
£

Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities before tax 561,500 768,833

2023
£

2022
£

Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate 
of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2022 – 19%) 106,685 146,078

Effects of:

Other differences leading to an (increase)/decrease in the 
tax charge (102,515) (145,860)

Non-taxable activities undertaken as a not-for-profit 
organisation, therefore no tax arises. Any in-year surplus 
is treated as deferred income.

Total tax charge for the year 4,170 218

Factors that may affect future tax charges

Corporation tax rates have been held at 19% for the years starting 1 April 2021 and 2022. 
The rate is increased to 25% for the year starting 1 April 2023.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

10. Tangible fixed assets

Registration 
database

£

Fixtures & 
Fittings

£

Furniture & 
office 

equipment
£

Computer 
equipment

£
Total

£

Cost

At 1 April 2022 693,195 334,818 126,234 298,977 1,453,224

Additions – – – 66,345 66,345

Disposals – (334,818) (122,400) (98,294) (555,512)

At 31 March 2023 693,195 – 3,834 267,028 964,057

Depreciation

At 1 April 2022 693,195 269,471 113,639 249,737 1,326,042

Charge owned 
for the period – 31,729 3,105 42,013 76,847

Disposals – (301,201) (112,910) (85,921) (500,031)

At 31 March 2023 693,195 – 3,834 205,830 902,859

Net book value

At 31 March 2023 – – – 61,198 61,198

At 31 March 2022 – 65,347 12,595 49,240 127,184

11. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

2023
£

2022
£

Trade debtors 1,389,825 546,824

Other debtors 771 125,390

Prepayments and accrued income 288,302 436,660

1,678,898 1,108,874
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12. Cash at bank and in hand

2023
£

2022
£

Cash at bank and in hand 1,483,668 2,118,924

1,483,668 2,118,924

13. Short-term cash investment

2023
£

2022
£

Short-term cash investment 1,000,000 –

1,000,000 –

The sole cash investment is a fixed-interest money market deposit with HSBC. The investment 
period is 9 months, from November 2022 to August 2023. The investment is non-redeemable 
before the August 2023 maturity date.

14. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2023
£

2022
£

Trade creditors 98,917 210,583

Corporation tax 4,170 218

Taxation and social security – –

Other creditors 20,063 –

Accruals and deferred income 1,170,417 586,671

1,293,567 797,472
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15. Financial instruments

2023
£

2022
£

Financial assets that are debt instruments measured  
at amortised cost 1,390,597 672,214

1,390,597 672,214

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (1,233,747) (734,480)

(1,233,747) (734,480)

Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost comprise trade and 
other debtors. The Company has net income attributable from financial assets that are debt 
instruments measured at amortised cost is £718,382 (2022: £104,701).

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other creditors and 
accruals. The Company has net expense attributable from financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost is (£499,267) (2022: £403,659).

16. Provisions

Dilapidations 
provision

£
Total

£

At 1 April 2022 184,644 184,644

Additions – –

Amounts released (184,644) (184,644)

At 31 March 2023 – –

Dilapidations provision:

The dilapidations provision reflected the expected cost of reinstating the former premises 
occupied by the company, in line with relevant contractual terms. The lease expired in 
December 2022 when the company moved to Riverside House, London and no new lease 
replaces it. Consequently the provision has been fully released.
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17. Prior year adjustments

There are no prior year adjustments.

18. Pension commitments

The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The funds of the scheme are 
administered by Trustees and are separate from the Company.

The pension cost charge represents contributions payable by the Company to the fund 
and amounted to £139,925 (2022: £139,045). At the year end the Company owed £18,217 
(2022: £nil).

19. Commitments under operating leases

At 31 March 2023 the Company had future minimum lease payments under non-cancelling 
operating leases as follows:

2023
£

2022
£

Land and Buildings

Not later than 1 year – 186,162

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years – –

Later than 5 years – –

Total – 186,162

The sole lease held was for the former business premises at 25th Floor, 40 Bank Street, 
London. The lease expired in December 2022 and no new lease replaces it.

Total operating lease payments made by the Company in 2023 were £186,162 
(2022: £246,192).
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20. Related party transactions

The companies of which certain directors are employees paid levies to the Company on the 
same basis as other members.

The employees did not have control or significant influence over these entities, nor did they 
serve as key management personnel of these entities and as such the entities are not related 
parties of PSA.

The directors of the Company are considered key management personnel of the Company. 
See note 7 for remuneration details.

21. Events after the reporting period

There have been no adjusting events after the reporting period date.

The Annual Report and Accounts have been authorised for issue by the Phone-paid Service 
Authority’s Chief Executive. The authorised to issue date is the date of the Comptroller and 
Auditor General’s certificate and report.

22. Retained surplus

PSA Ltd continues to operate as a solvent business, with the retained surplus deemed 
sufficient to effect a smooth and orderly wind-up of the company. This includes meeting 
all contractual redundancy liabilities, liquidation of any contractual commitments beyond 
the point of transfer, and provision for run-off insurance.

The remaining net asset balance at wind up will be legally distributed by PSA Ltd according 
to its Memorandum and Articles of Association i.e.:

“If upon the winding-up or dissolution of the Company there remains, after the satisfaction 
of all its debts and liabilities, any property whatsoever, the same shall not be paid to or 
distributed among the members of the Company, but shall be given or transferred to some 
other institution or institutions having objects similar to the objects of the Company, and 
which shall prohibit the distribution of its or their income and property among its or their 
members to an extent at least as great as is imposed on the Company under or by virtue of 
clause 4 hereof, such institution or institutions to be determined by the members within three 
months of the members resolution passed initiating the winding-up failing which and if and so 
far as effect cannot be given to such provision, then to such charitable object as the Directors 
shall resolve upon.”
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	The directors present their Strategic Report for the year ended 31 March 2023.
	INTRODUCTION
	The principal activity of the Company during the year was to apply and enforce the Company’s Code of Practice relating to premium rate telephone services (the Code). The Code is approved by The Office of Communications (Ofcom) under the Communications Act 2003 (the Act).
	During the year it was announced that regulatory responsibility for phone-paid services will transfer to Ofcom, subject to government approval. The planned transfer date is October 2024, and until then PSA will continue to deliver its regulatory remit in full.
	BUSINESS REVIEW
	Our activities and market
	Our activities and market

	We are the UK regulator for content, goods and services charged to a phone bill. We act in the interests of consumers.
	Phone-paid services are the goods and services that can be bought by charging the cost to the phone bill or pre-pay account. They include charity donations by text, music streaming, broadcast competitions, directory enquiries, voting on TV talent shows and in-app purchases. In law, phone-paid services are referred to as premium rate services (PRS).
	We are a non-profit making company limited by guarantee. We carry out the day-to-day regulation of phone-paid services in the UK, primarily through our Code of Practice approved under the Communications Act 2003. Ofcom defines the scope of our regulatory remit and also approves our annual Business Plan and Budget to ensure we are sufficiently resourced to carry out our functions.
	We are a designated public body and, as such, an arms-length body of central government. In 2023 our sponsor department changed from the Department of Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) to the Department for Science, Innovation and Technology (DSIT). We are audited by the National Audit Office.
	Our strategic approach
	Our strategic approach

	We build consumer trust in phone-paid services and ensure they are well-served through supporting a healthy market that is innovative and competitive. We do this by:
	Establishing regulatory standards for the phone-paid services industry
	We set standards to ensure that consumers who charge a purchase to their phone-bill do so knowingly and willingly and receive good customer service.
	These standards are designed to ensure all consumers have a similar positive experience of phone-paid services, including consumers who may be considered vulnerable.
	Our standards are clearly set out in our Code of Practice. They deliver the necessary technical and operational protections in the market and are aligned with consumer expectations, including those based on experiences with other payment mechanisms. We evolve these standards in response to industry best practice, advances in technology, risk, and consumer behaviour and expectations.
	The Code standards are supported by guidance, free compliance advice, and examples of best practice.
	Verifying and supervising organisations and services operating in the market
	Consumers should be able to trust that they are dealing with genuine service providers. We require all organisations operating in the phone-paid services market to register comprehensive details about themselves and the services they provide. 
	We support consumers to access this information easily, helping them to have sufficient details to be able to resolve any individual issues. 
	We require all parties in the phone-paid services industry to check the credentials and behaviour of who they work with, and to have systems in place to identify and deal quickly with issues affecting consumers. 
	We work with networks and intermediaries to ensure they meet our requirements around due diligence, risk assessment and control. We do this by actively monitoring and regularly auditing for compliance with the Code.
	Gathering intelligence about consumers, the market and individual services
	We invest in research and our expert monitoring capabilities to improve our understanding of market trends, consumer behaviour, experience and expectations, and use this to inform and enforce the standards we set.
	We continually receive and assess information about individual services, including complaints. We engage directly with consumers to understand the issues they are raising, we undertake detailed monitoring of individual services, and we ask service providers for further information when necessary.
	We actively monitor the wider market to identify potential consumer harm, address issues early and share information.
	Engaging closely with all stakeholders 
	We engage with all stakeholders – consumers, industry, government and other regulators, and the media – to inform and facilitate our regulatory approach. 
	We support industry to understand what our regulatory approach means for them in practice. This support is driven by our desire for consumers to be able to access services that they want, in a market that competes on price, product innovation, quality and customer service.
	We work to identify and remedy any instances where our approach may unnecessarily hinder consumers who knowingly and willingly want to charge a purchase to their phone bill from doing so.
	We promote consumer choice by enabling credible organisations to enter the market with ease and by creating the conditions where providers can innovate safely and invest with confidence. 
	We communicate with consumers to improve understanding and awareness of phone payment, and the various ways consumers can charge content, goods, or services to their phone bill.
	We work with Ofcom, DCMS/DSIT and other regulators to ensure that consumer interests are best served through a co-ordinated approach to regulation.
	Enforcing our Code of Practice
	Where apparent breaches of the Code are committed, we investigate and enforce where appropriate in the most efficient and effective way possible. We aim to eliminate sharp practices, negligent behaviour and the deliberate use of phone payment as a mechanic to exploit consumers.
	We ensure we are fair and proportionate, with enforcement delivered through the appropriate means. We will always be transparent in our decision-making, and our approach to investigations and sanctioning, including fines and ordering consumer redress, is detailed in the Supporting Procedures to the Code of Practice.
	Where our remit and sanctions are unable to wholly or partially hold to account those providers causing consumer harm, we will refer them to the relevant enforcement authorities.
	Delivering organisational excellence
	As a regulator, we are committed to acting in a transparent, accountable, proportionate, consistent, and targeted manner in everything we do. We uphold high standards in our governance, legal, finance, human resources, information systems, and customer service functions. 
	Review of 2022/2023
	Review of 2022/2023

	Delivery of market regulation
	After an extensive development and consultation process in the previous year, the start of 2022/23 saw the introduction of the new 15 Code of Practice (Code 15), aimed at:
	th

	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	achieving compliance in the market through standards being met, rather than through assessing impact against outcomes

	•
	•
	•
	 

	preventing consumer harm from happening in the first place, rather than dealing with it after it has happened

	•
	•
	•
	 

	providers finding the Code simpler and easier to comply with

	•
	•
	•
	 

	delivering smarter enforcement to underpin the effectiveness of the Code.


	During the year we ensured the successful delivery of this new regulatory approach through:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	demonstrating the flexibility of the new Code by quickly incorporating change (amendments to competition and voting services requirements) and putting in place the first general permission under the new Code (SMS virtual chat receipting)

	•
	•
	•
	 

	working more closely with key individual industry providers on a supervisory basis to monitor compliance, assess and mitigate risk and better understand their engagement with the market

	•
	•
	•
	 

	developing a wider understanding of key market issues and responding accordingly, with our first thematic review under the new Code collecting targeted data from over 40 different providers of Information, Connection and Signposting Services (ICSS)

	•
	•
	•
	 

	applying an enforcement strategy that concluded a number of extant Code 14 cases to underline the emphasis we place on networks and intermediaries having effective due diligence, risk assessment and control (DDRAC) processes

	•
	•
	•
	 

	identifying and resolving new issues quickly and, wherever possible, without resort to Enforcement sanctions

	•
	•
	•
	 

	returning to industry all bonds held under previous Code requirements (no longer necessary under Code 15).


	The impact of this new approach has been a positive one for consumers and has not impeded delivery of phone-paid services in the market:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	the number of issues reported to us by consumers has continued to be at record low levels of around 2,000 for the year (down 94% since 2015/16), with these issues being confined to only a few service types and a handful of providers

	•
	•
	•
	 

	our Annual Market Review (AMR) research shows that the number of consumers estimated to be using a phone-paid service at least once during a year has risen to around 60% of the UK adult population

	•
	•
	•
	 

	consumer spend in the market is expected to be broadly similar to the previous year at just under £0.6bn


	Future of market regulation
	The PSA Board has always been mindful of how the phone-paid services market could be best regulated in the long-term, and the process of developing Code 15 informed the opportunity to:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	reflect upon the current state of the market

	•
	•
	•
	 

	consider where potential issues may arise in the future 

	•
	•
	•
	 

	consider the resources likely to be needed to deal with them. 


	In conjunction with Ofcom, the PSA Board concluded that future regulation of an industry increasingly dominated by larger players would be better served by an organisation with the capacity and breadth of Ofcom rather than a free-standing body. As a consequence, it was announced in May 2022 that regulatory responsibility for phone-paid services will transfer to Ofcom, subject to government approval.
	During 2022/23 we worked closely with Ofcom to identify how best to deliver this transfer, with an initial focus on:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	supporting Ofcom’s aim to incorporate as much of Code 15 as possible into their statutory order and regulatory processes

	•
	•
	•
	 

	communicating the planned transfer to staff and creating opportunities for engagement with Ofcom colleagues

	•
	•
	•
	 

	relocating the PSA office into Ofcom’s head office at Riverside House London

	•
	•
	•
	 

	communicating the planned transfer to industry and, where able, responding to queries as they arise.


	Our funding arrangements
	Our funding arrangements

	We are a not-for-profit company, funded primarily through a levy imposed on the providers of PRS. 
	Our budget is subject to an annual consultation exercise with industry, and is subject to approval by Ofcom. In considering their approval, Ofcom satisfies itself that the PSA budget is sufficient for us to be able to deliver the required statutory obligations. 
	The industry levy is set so as to recover this budget, after netting off Registration Scheme fee income and bank account interest. The recovery model is set so that Network Operators collect on our behalf a fair proportion of the levy, based on their financial share of the market, as measured by the outpayments each Network Operator makes to service providers.
	Income is also received through the collection of fines and administrative charges, which may be imposed by independent Tribunals for non-compliance with the Code. This imposition of fines and administrative charges is evidence of our ongoing commitment to provide effective and proportionate regulation to the industry.
	In the first instance any collected fines are allocated to PSA’s retained surplus (see below), but in exceptional circumstances may be utilised in different ways, including redistribution back to Network Operators.
	Reserves
	Reserves

	We operate a detailed risk register to ensure we are able to clearly identify and, where possible, mitigate against potential risks. By definition the costs associated with these risks constitute extraordinary expenditure, including the planned winding up of the Company, and at the end of 2022/23 we hold accumulated reserves (retained surplus) of £2.9m to cover these risks. 
	2022/23 accounts
	2022/23 accounts

	Our turnover for 2022/23 was £5.9m (2021/22 £8.4m), comprising mainly of the industry levy, Registration fees, fines and administrative charges (note 3 to the financial statements). 
	Of this turnover, fines and administrative charges in 2022/23 were £2.0m (2021/22 £4.4m). For clarity:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	All fines imposed by the Tribunal are based solely on the merits of the case involved, and are determined wholly independently of the finances of the Company;

	•
	•
	•
	 

	Fines are recognised as turnover immediately as they are imposed and without regard to the creditworthiness of the debtor. Where fines are successfully reduced on appeal, turnover is reduced accordingly;

	•
	•
	•
	 

	Where the provider is, or becomes, insolvent, or the fine is otherwise unable to be recovered, a bad debt expense is created. Bad debts written off and provided for in 2022/23 amounted to £1.3m in total (2021/22 £3.6m).


	Expenses, excluding bad debts, in 2022/23 were £4.1m (2021/22 £4.1m) and are in line with the budget agreed with Ofcom.
	The surplus for the year, after taxation, amounted to £0.6m (2021/22 – £0.8m surplus).
	PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
	We have publicly announced that we are in the process of transferring regulatory responsibility to Ofcom. This work is expected to continue to be delivered by PSA until October 2024 and is subject to government approval. From the point of transfer, the PSA would cease to operate as an independent body.
	We continue to use a detailed Risk Register to monitor closely risks across all areas of the Company, and this includes the risks associated with the above transfer. We identify and take mitigating action where necessary and possible, and our approach is supported through the use of a Balanced Scorecard, with relevant measurement indicators, to assess overall Company performance. This allows us to consider not just the financial performance of the Company, and the associated risks, but also performance and 
	Arising from this overall approach to risk management, the key risks we face to delivering our regulatory remit up to the point of transfer are:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	Failing to deal with operational issues in phone-paid services market

	•
	•
	•
	 

	The sanctions we have at our disposal are not effective enough to deter bad actors in the market

	•
	•
	•
	 

	The Code is unable to address consumer harm (i.e. because behaviour causing harm is deemed compliant)

	•
	•
	•
	 

	Material failure in the working relationship with government stakeholders, most notably Ofcom and DSIT

	•
	•
	•
	 

	Our viability in the regulatory landscape is undermined if the proposed transfer of regulatory responsibility to Ofcom does not go ahead.


	We remain confident that for the period up until transfer, our regulatory framework will continue to allow the building of consumer trust in phone-paid services and ensure they are well-served through supporting a healthy market that is innovative and competitive. We also believe that the interests of consumers will be further enhanced in the longer term through the proposed transfer of regulatory responsibility to Ofcom.
	Our funding model, alongside our assessment of the market, means that the Company has minimal exposure to financial risks such as those arising around income, credit or cash flow. 
	This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf.
	D A Edmonds CBEChair
	 

	Date: 28th November 2023
	DIRECTORS REPORTFOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
	 

	The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.
	Results and dividends
	The surplus for the year, after taxation, amounted to £0.6m (2022 – £0.8m surplus).
	Directors
	The directors who served during the year and up to the date of this report were:
	D Edmonds CBE M MunnJ PorterM ThomsonW Palmer
	 
	 
	 
	 

	Disclosure of information to auditors
	Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this Directors Report is approved has confirmed that:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	so far as that director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware, and

	•
	•
	•
	 

	that the director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.


	Post balance sheet events
	There have been no significant events affecting the Company since the year end and the date the accounts were authorised for issue. 
	Future developments and preparation of accounts
	The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, but with material uncertainties arising from the following circumstances:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	in May 2022, PSA and Ofcom announced the intention for regulatory responsibility for phone-paid services to be transferred to Ofcom;

	•
	•
	•
	 

	since the announcement, both parties have been working in conjunction with their government sponsors towards effecting the transfer. The transfer is planned to happen in October 2024 and PSA will continue to deliver its regulatory remit in the meantime;

	•
	•
	•
	 

	the 2003 Communications Act requires Ofcom to lay a new Statutory Instrument before Parliament, setting out how Ofcom will directly regulate the phone-paid services market and the date from which this will happen;

	•
	•
	•
	 

	until such time that this Statutory Instrument is enacted, and given that the ability to raise levy funding remains in place until then, the Directors view is that PSA remains a going concern and have prepared these accounts on that basis.


	It should be noted that the Directors expect the finances of PSA Ltd to remain materially unaffected up until the point of transfer, with a retained surplus (2023: £2.9m) sufficient and essential to mitigate organisational risk and allow for a smooth and orderly wind-up of the company.
	Auditors
	Phone-paid Services Authority Limited is included in the Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000 (Audit of Public Bodies) Order 2017, creating a statutory requirement for the Comptroller and Auditor General to be the external auditor.
	Directors’ responsibilities statement
	The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
	Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’. Under Company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they a
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	select suitable accounting policies for the Company financial statements and then apply them consistently;

	•
	•
	•
	 

	make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

	•
	•
	•
	 

	prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in business;

	•
	•
	•
	 

	state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements.


	The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
	This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf.
	M ThomsonDirector
	 

	Date: 28th November 2023
	THE CERTIFICATE AND REPORT OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL TO THE MEMBERS OF PHONE-PAID SERVICES AUTHORITY LIMITED AND HOUSES OF PARLIAMENT
	OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
	I certify that I have audited the financial statements of Phone-paid Services Authority Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023 under the Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000. 
	The financial statements comprise the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	Statements of Financial Position as at 31 March 2023;  

	•
	•
	•
	 

	Statement of Income and Retained Earnings and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended; and

	•
	•
	•
	 

	the related notes including the significant accounting policies.


	The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is applicable law and the United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
	In my opinion the financial statements:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	give a true and fair view of the state of the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s affairs as at 31 March 2023 and its surplus for the year then ended; and

	•
	•
	•
	 

	have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

	•
	•
	•
	 

	have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.


	OPINION ON REGULARITY
	In my opinion, in all material respects, the income and expenditure recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
	BASIS FOR OPINIONS
	I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)), applicable law and Practice Note 10 Audit of Financial Statements and Regularity of Public Sector Bodies in the United Kingdom (2022). My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of my certificate. 
	Those standards require me and my staff to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Revised Ethical Standard 2019. I am independent of the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in the UK. My staff and I have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
	I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 
	MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATING TO GOING CONCERN
	I draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that Phone-paid Services Authority Limited and Ofcom have announced the intention for regulatory responsibility for phone-paid services to be transferred to Ofcom. The transfer is planned to happen in October 2024 and PSA will continue to deliver its regulatory remit in the meantime. The Communications Act 2003 requires the laying of a Statutory Instrument, setting out how Ofcom will directly regulate the phone-paid services market and 
	These events and conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s ability to continue as a going concern. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
	My responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this certificate.
	OTHER INFORMATION
	The other information comprises the information included in the Strategic Report & Directors’ Report, but does not include the financial statements and my auditor’s certificate thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. 
	My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in my certificate, I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
	My responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
	If I identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, I am required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, I am required to report that fact. 
	I have nothing to report in this regard.
	OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS 
	In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

	•
	•
	•
	 

	the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 


	MATTERS ON WHICH I REPORT BY EXCEPTION
	In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, I have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report.
	I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if, in my opinion:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for my audit have not been received from branches not visited by my staff; or

	•
	•
	•
	 

	the financial statements and the parts of the Directors Report to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

	•
	•
	•
	 

	certain disclosures of director’s remuneration specified by law are not made; or

	•
	•
	•
	 

	I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my audit;


	RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	maintaining proper accounting records; 

	•
	•
	•
	 

	providing the C&AG with access to all information of which management is aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;

	•
	•
	•
	 

	providing the C&AG with additional information and explanations needed for his audit;

	•
	•
	•
	 

	providing the C&AG with unrestricted access to persons within the [audited entity] from whom the auditor determines it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

	•
	•
	•
	 

	Preparing financial statements, which give a true and fair view, in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; 

	•
	•
	•
	 

	ensuring such internal controls are in place as directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of financial statement to be free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;  

	•
	•
	•
	 

	preparing the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and

	•
	•
	•
	 

	assessing the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.


	AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	My responsibility is to audit, certify and report on the financial statements in accordance with the Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000.
	My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a certificate that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregat
	Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting non-compliance with laws and regulations including fraud 
	I design procedures in line with my responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud. The extent to which my procedures are capable of detecting non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud is detailed below.
	Identifying and assessing potential risks related to non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud 
	In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud, I:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	considered the nature of the sector, control environment and operational performance including the design of the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s accounting policies.  

	•
	•
	•
	 

	inquired of management, and those charged with governance, including obtaining and reviewing supporting documentation relating to the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s policies and procedures on: 
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations;

	•
	•
	•
	 

	detecting and responding to the risks of fraud; and

	•
	•
	•
	 

	the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations including the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s controls relating to the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s compliance with the Companies Act 2006, Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000 and, Managing Public Money;



	•
	•
	•
	 

	inquired of management, and those charged with governance whether:
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	they were aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations;

	•
	•
	•
	 

	they had knowledge of any actual, suspected, or alleged fraud;



	•
	•
	•
	 

	discussed with the engagement team regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud. 


	As a result of these procedures, I considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited for fraud and identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas: revenue recognition, posting of unusual journals, complex transactions and bias in management estimates. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), I am also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override.
	I obtained an understanding of the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited’s framework of authority and other legal and regulatory frameworks in which the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited operates. I focused on those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements or that had a fundamental effect on the operations of the Phone-paid Services Authority Limited. The key laws and regulations I considered in this context included Companies Act 2006
	Audit response to identified risk 
	To respond to the identified risks resulting from the above procedures: 
	•
	•
	•
	•
	 

	I reviewed the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described above as having direct effect on the financial statements;

	•
	•
	•
	 

	I enquired of management, and the Audit, Risk & Corporate Governance Committee concerning actual and potential litigation and claims; 

	•
	•
	•
	 

	I reviewed minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and the Board and internal audit reports; and

	•
	•
	•
	 

	in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, I tested the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.


	I communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential risks of fraud to all engagement team members and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit. 
	A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: . This description forms part of my certificate. 
	www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities

	Other auditor’s responsibilities
	I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
	I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control I identify during my audit. 
	REPORT
	I have no observations to make on these financial statements.
	Gareth Davies 
	5th December 2023
	Comptroller and Auditor General National Audit Office157-197 Buckingham Palace RoadVictoriaLondonSW1W 9SP
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	STATEMENT OF INCOME AND RETAINED EARNINGSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
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	2023
	£

	2022
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	£



	TBody
	Turnover
	Turnover
	Turnover

	3
	3

	5,883,228
	5,883,228

	8,413,885
	8,413,885


	Administrative expenses
	Administrative expenses
	Administrative expenses

	(4,067,998)
	(4,067,998)

	(4,065,448)
	(4,065,448)


	Bad debts
	Bad debts
	Bad debts

	(1,275,676)
	(1,275,676)

	(3,580,753)
	(3,580,753)


	Operating surplus/(loss)
	Operating surplus/(loss)
	Operating surplus/(loss)

	4
	4

	539,554
	539,554

	767,684
	767,684


	Interest receivable
	Interest receivable
	Interest receivable

	8
	8

	21,946
	21,946

	1,149
	1,149


	Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activity before taxation
	Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activity before taxation
	Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activity before taxation

	561,500
	561,500

	768,833
	768,833


	Taxation on interest
	Taxation on interest
	Taxation on interest

	9
	9

	(4,170)
	(4,170)

	(218)
	(218)


	Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activity after taxation
	Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activity after taxation
	Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activity after taxation

	557,330
	557,330

	768,614
	768,614


	Retained surplus at the beginning of the year
	Retained surplus at the beginning of the year
	Retained surplus at the beginning of the year

	2,372,867
	2,372,867

	1,604,253
	1,604,253


	Surplus/(deficit) for the year
	Surplus/(deficit) for the year
	Surplus/(deficit) for the year

	557,330
	557,330

	768,614
	768,614


	Retained surplus at the end of the year
	Retained surplus at the end of the year
	Retained surplus at the end of the year

	22
	22

	2,930,197
	2,930,197

	2,372,867
	2,372,867





	The notes on pages 23 to 35 form part of these financial statements.
	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITIONAS AT 31 MARCH 2023
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	Fixed assets
	Fixed assets
	Fixed assets
	Fixed assets


	Tangible assets
	Tangible assets
	Tangible assets

	10
	10

	61,198
	61,198

	127,184
	127,184


	TR
	61,198
	61,198

	127,184
	127,184


	Current assets
	Current assets
	Current assets


	Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
	Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
	Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

	11
	11

	1,678,898
	1,678,898

	1,108,874
	1,108,874


	Cash at bank and in hand
	Cash at bank and in hand
	Cash at bank and in hand

	12
	12

	1,483,668
	1,483,668

	2,118,924
	2,118,924


	Short-term cash investment
	Short-term cash investment
	Short-term cash investment

	13
	13

	1,000,000
	1,000,000

	–
	–


	TR
	4,162,566
	4,162,566

	3,227,798
	3,227,798


	Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
	Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
	Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

	14
	14

	(1,293,567)
	(1,293,567)

	(797,472)
	(797,472)


	Net current assets
	Net current assets
	Net current assets

	2,868,999
	2,868,999

	2,430,326
	2,430,326


	Total assets less current liabilities
	Total assets less current liabilities
	Total assets less current liabilities

	2,930,197
	2,930,197

	2,557,511
	2,557,511


	Provisions for Liabilities
	Provisions for Liabilities
	Provisions for Liabilities


	Other provisions
	Other provisions
	Other provisions

	16
	16

	–
	–

	(184,644)
	(184,644)


	TR
	–
	–

	(184,644)
	(184,644)


	Net assets
	Net assets
	Net assets

	2,930,197
	2,930,197

	2,372,867
	2,372,867


	Capital and reserves
	Capital and reserves
	Capital and reserves


	Retained surplus
	Retained surplus
	Retained surplus

	22
	22

	2,930,197
	2,930,197

	2,372,867
	2,372,867


	TR
	2,930,197
	2,930,197

	2,372,867
	2,372,867





	Phone-paid Services Authority Limited is exempt from the requirements of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 under section 482 (non-profit-making companies subject to public sector audit) of that Act. The financial statements are subject to audit by the Comptroller and Auditor General under The Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000 (Audit of Non-profit-making Companies) Order 2009.
	The financial statements were approved by the board and were signed on its behalf by:
	J PorterDirector
	 

	Date: 4th December 2023
	The notes on pages 23 to 35 form part of these financial statements.
	STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWSFOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
	 

	Body_Text
	Table
	THead
	TR
	Note
	Note

	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Surplus/(deficit) for the financial year
	Surplus/(deficit) for the financial year
	Surplus/(deficit) for the financial year
	Surplus/(deficit) for the financial year

	557,330
	557,330

	768,614
	768,614


	Adjustments for:
	Adjustments for:
	Adjustments for:


	Depreciation of tangible assets
	Depreciation of tangible assets
	Depreciation of tangible assets

	10
	10

	76,848
	76,848

	93,744
	93,744


	(Profit)/loss on disposal of tangible assets
	(Profit)/loss on disposal of tangible assets
	(Profit)/loss on disposal of tangible assets

	10
	10

	55,484
	55,484

	204
	204


	(Decrease) in dilapidations provision
	(Decrease) in dilapidations provision
	(Decrease) in dilapidations provision

	16
	16

	(184,644)
	(184,644)

	–
	–


	Interest received
	Interest received
	Interest received

	8
	8

	(21,946)
	(21,946)

	(1,149)
	(1,149)


	Taxation
	Taxation
	Taxation

	9
	9

	4,170
	4,170

	218
	218


	(Increase) decrease in debtors
	(Increase) decrease in debtors
	(Increase) decrease in debtors

	11
	11

	(570,024)
	(570,024)

	(295,584)
	(295,584)


	Increase (decrease) in creditors
	Increase (decrease) in creditors
	Increase (decrease) in creditors

	14
	14

	492,143
	492,143

	(395,265)
	(395,265)


	Corporation tax
	Corporation tax
	Corporation tax

	(218)
	(218)

	(2,789)
	(2,789)


	Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities
	Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities
	Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities

	409,143
	409,143

	167,993
	167,993


	Cash flows from investing activities
	Cash flows from investing activities
	Cash flows from investing activities


	Purchase and sale of tangible fixed assets
	Purchase and sale of tangible fixed assets
	Purchase and sale of tangible fixed assets

	10
	10

	(66,345)
	(66,345)

	(28,785)
	(28,785)


	Interest received
	Interest received
	Interest received

	8
	8

	21,946
	21,946

	1,149
	1,149


	Short-term cash investment
	Short-term cash investment
	Short-term cash investment

	13
	13

	(1,000,000)
	(1,000,000)

	–
	–


	Net cash from/(used in) investing activities
	Net cash from/(used in) investing activities
	Net cash from/(used in) investing activities

	(1,044,399)
	(1,044,399)

	(27,636)
	(27,636)


	Cash flows from financing activities
	Cash flows from financing activities
	Cash flows from financing activities


	Interest paid
	Interest paid
	Interest paid

	–
	–

	–
	–


	Net cash used in financing activities
	Net cash used in financing activities
	Net cash used in financing activities

	–
	–

	–
	–


	Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
	Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
	Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

	(635,256)
	(635,256)

	140,357
	140,357


	Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
	Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
	Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

	2,118,924
	2,118,924

	1,978,567
	1,978,567


	Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
	Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
	Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

	1,483,668
	1,483,668

	2,118,924
	2,118,924


	Cash and cash equivalents at end of year comprise:
	Cash and cash equivalents at end of year comprise:
	Cash and cash equivalents at end of year comprise:


	Cash at bank and in hand
	Cash at bank and in hand
	Cash at bank and in hand

	1,483,668
	1,483,668

	2,118,924
	2,118,924


	TR
	1,483,668
	1,483,668

	2,118,924
	2,118,924





	1. Accounting policies
	1.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements
	Phone-paid Services Authority Limited (the Company) is a private not-for-profit Company limited by guarantee incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006 and is registered in England and Wales. The address of the Company’s registered office is Ofcom, Riverside House, 2a Southwark Bridge Road, London SE1 9HA. The nature of the company’s operations are to apply and enforce the Company’s Code of Practice relating to premium rate telephone services (the Code). The Code is approved by Ofcom un
	The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, and in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by the Financial Reporting Council. The Company has applied the amendments to FRS 102 published by the FRC in March 2018 prior to their mandatory effective date of accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
	The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in applying the Company’s accounting policies (see note 2).
	The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, but with material uncertainties arising from the following circumstances:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	in May 2022, PSA and Ofcom announced the intention for regulatory responsibility for phone-paid services to be transferred to Ofcom;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	since the announcement, both parties have been working in conjunction with their government sponsors towards effecting the transfer. The transfer is planned to happen in October 2024 and PSA will continue to deliver its regulatory remit in the meantime;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the 2003 Communications Act requires Ofcom to lay a new Statutory Instrument before Parliament, setting out how Ofcom will directly regulate the phone-paid services market and the date from which this will happen;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	until such time that this Statutory Instrument is enacted, and given that the ability to raise levy funding remains in place until then, the Directors view is that PSA remains a going concern and have prepared these accounts on that basis.


	It should be noted that the Directors expect the finances of PSA Ltd to remain materially unaffected up until the point of transfer, with a retained surplus (2023: £2.9m) sufficient and essential to mitigate organisational risk and allow for a smooth and orderly wind-up of the company (see note 22).
	The following principal accounting policies have been applied:
	1.2  Revenue
	Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:
	Recognition of income
	Income received from the network operators is on the basis of a levy on income from premium rate services. The levy is set at the beginning of each year, based on budgeted expenditure, so as to reimburse Phone-paid Services Authority Limited for costs incurred.
	Income from fines and administrative charges is recognised as soon as the Tribunal orders them to be paid and it is made publicly available.
	A contingency is made in full where fines are in dispute.
	Rendering of services
	Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised in the period in which the services are provided in accordance with the stage of completion of the contract when all of the following conditions are satisfied:
	• 
	• 
	• 
	• 

	the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	it is probable that the Company will receive the consideration due under the contract;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the stage of completion of the contract at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably, and;

	• 
	• 
	• 

	the costs incurred and the costs to complete the contract can be measured reliably.


	1.3 Tangible fixed assets
	Tangible fixed assets under the cost model are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
	Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the costs of assets less their residual value over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
	Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within ‘other operating income’ in the Statement of Income and Retained Earnings.
	1.4 Operating leases: Lessee
	Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the profit or loss on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.
	1.5 Debtors
	Short term debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment.
	1.6 Cash and cash equivalents
	Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in no more than six months from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
	1.7 Financial instruments
	The company only enters into basic financial instruments transactions that result in the recognition of financial assets and liabilities like trade and other accounts receivable and payable.
	Short term creditors are measured at the transaction price. Other financial liabilities, including bank loans, are measured initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised costs using the effective interest method.
	1.8 Defined contribution pension plan
	The Company operates a defined contribution plan for its employees. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. Once the contributions have been paid the Company has no further payments obligations.
	The contributions are recognised as an expense when they fall due. Amounts not paid are shown in accruals as a liability in the Statement of Financial Position. The assets of the plan are held separately from the Company in independently administered funds.
	1.9 Retained surplus
	The Company has allocated amounts collected from Network Operators to provide working capital funding for the Company and in particular to provide funding in the event of a sudden change in the nature and volume of activity of the Company. These amounts are included in the profit and loss reserve.
	1.10 Provisions for liabilities
	Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Company a legal or constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefit, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
	Provisions are charged as an expense to the Statement of Income and Retained Earnings in the year that the Company becomes aware of the obligation and are measured at the best estimate at the Statement of Financial Position date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties.
	When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Statement of Financial Position.
	No discounting is applied for the time value of money as the effect would be negligible.
	1.11 Taxation
	Corporation tax is assessed on interest received at the current date. Any surplus arising during the year is not subject to Corporation Tax.
	2. Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty
	In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 1, the directors are required to make judgements (other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual re
	The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with separately below), that the directors have made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
	Bad debt provision is made on an individual basis, against specific debts. This is based on the evidence relating to that debt, as the collection process proceeds. No general provision is made for doubtful debts against the debtors balance as a whole.
	3. Analysis of turnover
	An analysis of turnover by class of business is as follows:
	Notes_Body_10mm_indent
	Table
	THead
	TR
	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Levy
	Levy
	Levy
	Levy

	3,726,621
	3,726,621

	3,877,290
	3,877,290


	Administrative charges
	Administrative charges
	Administrative charges

	49,000
	49,000

	107,325
	107,325


	Fines
	Fines
	Fines

	1,960,000
	1,960,000

	4,280,000
	4,280,000


	Registration fees
	Registration fees
	Registration fees

	147,508
	147,508

	149,071
	149,071


	Other
	Other
	Other

	99
	99

	199
	199


	TR
	5,883,228
	5,883,228

	8,413,885
	8,413,885





	Turnover is received predominantly from within the UK.
	4. Operating surplus/(loss)
	The operating surplus/(loss) is stated after charging:
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	Table
	THead
	TR
	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
	Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
	Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
	Depreciation of tangible fixed assets

	76,848
	76,848

	93,744
	93,744


	Operating lease payments
	Operating lease payments
	Operating lease payments

	225,382
	225,382

	196,119
	196,119


	Defined contribution pension cost (Note 18)
	Defined contribution pension cost (Note 18)
	Defined contribution pension cost (Note 18)

	139,925
	139,925

	139,045
	139,045


	TR
	442,155
	442,155

	428,908
	428,908





	5. Auditors’ remuneration
	Notes_Body_10mm_indent
	Table
	THead
	TR
	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts
	Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts
	Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts
	Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts

	35,000
	35,000

	26,000
	26,000


	TR
	35,000
	35,000

	26,000
	26,000


	Analysis of audit fees:
	Analysis of audit fees:
	Analysis of audit fees:


	National Audit Office
	National Audit Office
	National Audit Office

	35,000
	35,000

	26,000
	26,000


	TR
	35,000
	35,000

	26,000
	26,000





	6. Employees
	Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration, were as follows:
	Notes_Body_10mm_indent
	Table
	THead
	TR
	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Wages and salaries
	Wages and salaries
	Wages and salaries
	Wages and salaries

	2,209,714
	2,209,714

	2,234,240
	2,234,240


	Social security costs
	Social security costs
	Social security costs

	231,234
	231,234

	212,187
	212,187


	Costs of defined contribution scheme
	Costs of defined contribution scheme
	Costs of defined contribution scheme

	139,925
	139,925

	139,045
	139,045


	TR
	2,580,873
	2,580,873

	2,585,472
	2,585,472





	The average monthly number of employees, including the directors, during the year was as follows:
	Notes_Body_10mm_indent
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	THead
	TR
	2023
	2023
	No.

	2022
	2022
	No.



	Board
	Board
	Board
	Board

	4
	4

	5
	5


	Staff
	Staff
	Staff

	35
	35

	41
	41


	Independent Complaints Assessor – part time
	Independent Complaints Assessor – part time
	Independent Complaints Assessor – part time

	1
	1

	1
	1


	Code Adjudication Panel – part time
	Code Adjudication Panel – part time
	Code Adjudication Panel – part time

	10
	10

	10
	10


	Consumer Panel – part time
	Consumer Panel – part time
	Consumer Panel – part time

	6
	6

	6
	6


	TR
	56
	56

	63
	63





	Staff costs and staff numbers information include amounts relating to the Code Adjudication Panel (CAP), the Independent Appeals Body (IAB) and the Consumer Panel. All members of the CAP are employed by the Company for administrative purposes only, and are otherwise independent of the Company.
	The total of 56 (2022: 63) is made up of FTE employees and part-time office-holders (which includes Board members).
	7. Directors’ remuneration
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	THead
	TR
	2023
	2023
	£

	2022 represented
	2022 represented
	 

	£



	Directors emoluments
	Directors emoluments
	Directors emoluments
	Directors emoluments

	251,846
	251,846

	253,134
	253,134


	Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes
	Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes
	Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes

	20,700
	20,700

	19,703
	19,703


	TR
	272,546
	272,546

	272,837
	272,837





	During the year retirement benefits were accruing to 1 director (2022 – 1) in respect of defined contribution pension schemes.
	The highest paid director received remuneration of £147,220 (2022 - £137,854 represented). The 2022 figure has been represented due to erroneous double-counting of a bonus paid in 2022 of £6,503.
	The value of the company’s contributions paid to a defined contribution pension scheme in respect of the highest paid director amounted to £20,700 (2022 – £19,703).
	The total accrued pension provision of the highest paid director at 31 March 2023 amounted to £1,725 (2022 – £nil).
	8. Interest receivable
	Notes_Body_10mm_indent
	Table
	THead
	TR
	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Other interest receivable
	Other interest receivable
	Other interest receivable
	Other interest receivable

	21,946
	21,946

	1,149
	1,149


	TR
	21,946
	21,946

	1,149
	1,149





	9. Taxation
	The tax payable is due on the bank interest received. Phone-paid Services Authority Limited is a not-for-profit organisation therefore no tax arises on its other activities as any in-year surplus, if it arises, is treated as deferred income.
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	Table
	THead
	TR
	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Corporation tax
	Corporation tax
	Corporation tax
	Corporation tax


	Taxation on interest
	Taxation on interest
	Taxation on interest

	4,170
	4,170

	218
	218


	Taxation on interest
	Taxation on interest
	Taxation on interest

	4,170
	4,170

	218
	218





	Factors affecting tax charge for the year
	The tax assessed for the year is higher than (2022 – higher than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2022 – 19%). The differences are explained below:
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	THead
	TR
	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities before tax
	Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities before tax
	Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities before tax
	Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities before tax

	561,500
	561,500

	768,833
	768,833





	Notes_Body_10mm_indent
	Table
	THead
	TR
	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2022 – 19%)
	Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2022 – 19%)
	Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2022 – 19%)
	Surplus/(deficit) on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2022 – 19%)

	106,685
	106,685

	146,078
	146,078


	Effects of:
	Effects of:
	Effects of:


	Other differences leading to an (increase)/decrease in the tax charge
	Other differences leading to an (increase)/decrease in the tax charge
	Other differences leading to an (increase)/decrease in the tax charge

	(102,515)
	(102,515)

	(145,860)
	(145,860)


	Non-taxable activities undertaken as a not-for-profit organisation, therefore no tax arises. Any in-year surplus is treated as deferred income.
	Non-taxable activities undertaken as a not-for-profit organisation, therefore no tax arises. Any in-year surplus is treated as deferred income.
	Non-taxable activities undertaken as a not-for-profit organisation, therefore no tax arises. Any in-year surplus is treated as deferred income.


	Total tax charge for the year
	Total tax charge for the year
	Total tax charge for the year

	4,170
	4,170

	218
	218





	Factors that may affect future tax charges
	Corporation tax rates have been held at 19% for the years starting 1 April 2021 and 2022. The rate is increased to 25% for the year starting 1 April 2023.
	10. Tangible fixed assets
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	THead
	TR
	Registration database
	Registration database
	£

	Fixtures & Fittings
	Fixtures & Fittings
	£

	Furniture & office equipment
	Furniture & office equipment
	£

	Computer equipment
	Computer equipment
	£

	Total
	Total
	£



	Cost
	Cost
	Cost
	Cost


	At 1 April 2022
	At 1 April 2022
	At 1 April 2022

	693,195
	693,195

	334,818
	334,818

	126,234
	126,234

	298,977
	298,977

	1,453,224
	1,453,224


	Additions
	Additions
	Additions

	–
	–

	–
	–

	–
	–

	66,345
	66,345

	66,345
	66,345


	Disposals
	Disposals
	Disposals

	–
	–

	(334,818)
	(334,818)

	(122,400)
	(122,400)

	(98,294)
	(98,294)

	(555,512)
	(555,512)


	At 31 March 2023
	At 31 March 2023
	At 31 March 2023

	693,195
	693,195

	–
	–

	3,834
	3,834

	267,028
	267,028

	964,057
	964,057


	Depreciation
	Depreciation
	Depreciation


	At 1 April 2022
	At 1 April 2022
	At 1 April 2022

	693,195
	693,195

	269,471
	269,471

	113,639
	113,639

	249,737
	249,737

	1,326,042
	1,326,042


	Charge owned for the period
	Charge owned for the period
	Charge owned for the period

	–
	–

	31,729
	31,729

	3,105
	3,105

	42,013
	42,013

	76,847
	76,847


	Disposals
	Disposals
	Disposals

	–
	–

	(301,201)
	(301,201)

	(112,910)
	(112,910)

	(85,921)
	(85,921)

	(500,031)
	(500,031)


	At 31 March 2023
	At 31 March 2023
	At 31 March 2023

	693,195
	693,195

	–
	–

	3,834
	3,834

	205,830
	205,830

	902,859
	902,859


	Net book value
	Net book value
	Net book value


	At 31 March 2023
	At 31 March 2023
	At 31 March 2023

	–
	–

	–
	–

	–
	–

	61,198
	61,198

	61,198
	61,198


	At 31 March 2022
	At 31 March 2022
	At 31 March 2022

	–
	–

	65,347
	65,347

	12,595
	12,595

	49,240
	49,240

	127,184
	127,184





	11. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
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	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Trade debtors
	Trade debtors
	Trade debtors
	Trade debtors

	1,389,825
	1,389,825

	546,824
	546,824


	Other debtors
	Other debtors
	Other debtors

	771
	771

	125,390
	125,390


	Prepayments and accrued income
	Prepayments and accrued income
	Prepayments and accrued income

	288,302
	288,302

	436,660
	436,660


	TR
	1,678,898
	1,678,898

	1,108,874
	1,108,874





	12. Cash at bank and in hand
	Notes_Body_10mm_indent
	Table
	THead
	TR
	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Cash at bank and in hand
	Cash at bank and in hand
	Cash at bank and in hand
	Cash at bank and in hand

	1,483,668
	1,483,668

	2,118,924
	2,118,924


	TR
	1,483,668
	1,483,668

	2,118,924
	2,118,924





	13. Short-term cash investment
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	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Short-term cash investment
	Short-term cash investment
	Short-term cash investment
	Short-term cash investment

	1,000,000
	1,000,000

	–
	–


	TR
	1,000,000
	1,000,000

	–
	–





	The sole cash investment is a fixed-interest money market deposit with HSBC. The investment period is 9 months, from November 2022 to August 2023. The investment is non-redeemable before the August 2023 maturity date.
	14. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
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	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Trade creditors
	Trade creditors
	Trade creditors
	Trade creditors

	98,917
	98,917

	210,583
	210,583


	Corporation tax
	Corporation tax
	Corporation tax

	4,170
	4,170

	218
	218


	Taxation and social security
	Taxation and social security
	Taxation and social security

	–
	–

	–
	–


	Other creditors
	Other creditors
	Other creditors

	20,063
	20,063

	–
	–


	Accruals and deferred income
	Accruals and deferred income
	Accruals and deferred income

	1,170,417
	1,170,417

	586,671
	586,671


	TR
	1,293,567
	1,293,567

	797,472
	797,472





	15. Financial instruments
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	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost
	Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost
	Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost
	Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost
	 


	1,390,597
	1,390,597

	672,214
	672,214


	TR
	1,390,597
	1,390,597

	672,214
	672,214


	Financial liabilities
	Financial liabilities
	Financial liabilities


	Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
	Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
	Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

	(1,233,747)
	(1,233,747)

	(734,480)
	(734,480)


	TR
	(1,233,747)
	(1,233,747)

	(734,480)
	(734,480)





	Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other debtors. The Company has net income attributable from financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost is £718,382 (2022: £104,701).
	Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other creditors and accruals. The Company has net expense attributable from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost is (£499,267) (2022: £403,659).
	16. Provisions
	Notes_Body_10mm_indent
	Table
	THead
	TR
	Dilapidations provision
	Dilapidations provision
	£

	Total
	Total
	£



	At 1 April 2022
	At 1 April 2022
	At 1 April 2022
	At 1 April 2022

	184,644
	184,644

	184,644
	184,644


	Additions
	Additions
	Additions

	–
	–

	–
	–


	Amounts released
	Amounts released
	Amounts released

	(184,644)
	(184,644)

	(184,644)
	(184,644)


	At 31 March 2023
	At 31 March 2023
	At 31 March 2023

	–
	–

	–
	–





	Dilapidations provision:
	The dilapidations provision reflected the expected cost of reinstating the former premises occupied by the company, in line with relevant contractual terms. The lease expired in December 2022 when the company moved to Riverside House, London and no new lease replaces it. Consequently the provision has been fully released.
	17. Prior year adjustments
	There are no prior year adjustments.
	18. Pension commitments
	The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The funds of the scheme are administered by Trustees and are separate from the Company.
	The pension cost charge represents contributions payable by the Company to the fund and amounted to £139,925 (2022: £139,045). At the year end the Company owed £18,217 (2022: £nil).
	19. Commitments under operating leases
	At 31 March 2023 the Company had future minimum lease payments under non-cancelling operating leases as follows:
	Notes_Body_10mm_indent
	Table
	THead
	TR
	2023
	2023
	£

	2022
	2022
	£



	Land and Buildings
	Land and Buildings
	Land and Buildings
	Land and Buildings


	Not later than 1 year
	Not later than 1 year
	Not later than 1 year

	–
	–

	186,162
	186,162


	Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
	Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
	Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

	–
	–

	–
	–


	Later than 5 years
	Later than 5 years
	Later than 5 years

	–
	–

	–
	–


	Total
	Total
	Total

	–
	–

	186,162
	186,162





	The sole lease held was for the former business premises at 25th Floor, 40 Bank Street, London. The lease expired in December 2022 and no new lease replaces it.
	Total operating lease payments made by the Company in 2023 were £186,162 (2022: £246,192).
	20. Related party transactions
	The companies of which certain directors are employees paid levies to the Company on the same basis as other members.
	The employees did not have control or significant influence over these entities, nor did they serve as key management personnel of these entities and as such the entities are not related parties of PSA.
	The directors of the Company are considered key management personnel of the Company. See note 7 for remuneration details.
	21. Events after the reporting period
	There have been no adjusting events after the reporting period date.
	The Annual Report and Accounts have been authorised for issue by the Phone-paid Service Authority’s Chief Executive. The authorised to issue date is the date of the Comptroller and Auditor General’s certificate and report.
	22. Retained surplus
	PSA Ltd continues to operate as a solvent business, with the retained surplus deemed sufficient to effect a smooth and orderly wind-up of the company. This includes meeting all contractual redundancy liabilities, liquidation of any contractual commitments beyond the point of transfer, and provision for run-off insurance.
	The remaining net asset balance at wind up will be legally distributed by PSA Ltd according to its Memorandum and Articles of Association i.e.:
	“If upon the winding-up or dissolution of the Company there remains, after the satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities, any property whatsoever, the same shall not be paid to or distributed among the members of the Company, but shall be given or transferred to some other institution or institutions having objects similar to the objects of the Company, and which shall prohibit the distribution of its or their income and property among its or their members to an extent at least as great as is imposed on
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